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LETTER FROM THE CEO

THE
DIFFERENCE IS...
IN OUR

President and Chief Executie Officer

BUSINESS MODEL

The first quarter of 2010 has
provided us with a more optimistic
outlook than we had during the

same period last year. Spring has
arrived and the Canadian economy
is leading the way after a challenging
economic period.

Business fundamentals and

key trends are showing positive
improvements. Consumer spending
is increasing, retailer’s margins are
strengthening and the demand for
space in our centres is reflective of
our occupancy which is at a very
strong 96.7%. In fact, through the
economic turmoil of the past 18
months, our occupancy level

never fell below 96.4%. There is
continuing demand for space in our
malls which speaks to the strength
of the markets and the assets.

As always, we are very focused

on the key fundamentals of our
business and our results. Funds from
Operations (FFO) per unit is $0.350
this quarter up from $0.347 in Q1

2009. Our payout ratio is improved
to 87.2% from 98.2% in the fourth
quarter of 2009. We made some
significant investments in the last
quarter of 2009 which contributed
to results. And finally, expenses
associated with the internalization
of management are largely behind
us and this is being reflected in
our bottom line.

We are in constant contact

with our retail partners and

our research and leasing teams
work in tandem to ensure the
merchandise mix for our centres
meets the demographic and
economic needs of the market.
Our centres are constantly being
re-tooled to introduce the latest
retail concepts our consumers
have come to expect.

In addition to our research and
leasing capabilities, we have
recently rounded out our internal
expertise with the appointment of
Anne Morash as Vice President,
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Development. Anne is a great
addition to the Primaris team as
she brings a wealth of experience
while working at one of Canada’s
most successful real estate
companies. Anne will focus on
development and value-add
opportunities in our existing
portfolio and potential acquisitions.

The property investment market
was relatively quiet during the first
quarter. We are well positioned to
make accretive acquisitions when
the right opportunity comes along.
We continue to have a strong belief
in the opportunity to acquire

retail properties that fit our
strategic objectives.

At March 31, 2010, we marked
our first quarter as an internally
managed company. As | noted
in our recent Annual Report, the
transition was a success and it
has been business as usual as
we continue to focus on
delivering results.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations

(in thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts)
For the three-month period ended March 31, 2010

Primaris Retail Real Estate Investment Trust (“Primaris”) has prepared the following
discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”),

which should be read in conjunction with the unaudited financial statements and the
accompanying notes prepared for the three-month periods ended March 31, 2010 and 2009.

The MD&A is dated May 4, 2010. Disclosure contained in this document is current to that date, unless
otherwise noted.

Primaris was formed to own, manage, lease and develop retail properties, primarily in Canada. These
properties are typically mid-market retail centres in major cities or major retail centres in secondary cities.
The portfolio’s focus to date has been predominantly enclosed malls. While this will remain the primary
focus, acquisitions have included other formats of real estate.

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

The MD&A contains forward-looking information based on management’s best estimates and the current
operating environment. These forward-looking statements are related to, but not limited to, Primaris’
operations, anticipated financial performance, business prospects and strategies. Forward-looking
information typically contains statements with words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” “plan”

or similar words suggesting future outcomes. Such forward-looking statements are subject to risks,
uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from future results
expressed, projected or implied by such forward-looking statements.

» o« » o«

In particular, certain statements in this document discuss Primaris’ anticipated outlook of future events.
These statements include, but are not limited to:

(i) the accretive acquisition of properties and the anticipated extent of the accretion of any acquisitions,
which could be impacted by demand for properties and the effect that demand has on acquisition
capitalization rates and changes in the cost of capital;

(i) reinvesting to make improvements to existing properties, which could be impacted by the availability
of labour and capital resource allocation decisions;

(iii) generating improved rental income and occupancy levels, which could be impacted by changes in
demand for Primaris’ properties, tenant bankruptcies, the effects of general economic conditions and
supply of competitive locations in proximity to Primaris locations;
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

(iv) overall indebtedness levels, which could be impacted by the level of acquisition activity Primaris is
able to achieve and future financing opportunities;

(v) tax exempt status, which can be impacted by regulatory changes enacted by governmental authorities;

(vi) anticipated distributions and payout ratios, which could be impacted by seasonality of capital
expenditures, results of operations and capital resource allocation decisions;

(vii) the effect that any contingencies would have on Primaris’ financial statements;

(vii) the continued investment in training and resources throughout the International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) transition and the effect the adoption of IFRS may have on Primaris’
future financial statements; and

(ix) anticipated replacement of expiring tenancies, which could be impacted by the effects of general
economic conditions and the supply of competitive locations; and

(x) the development of properties which could be impacted by real estate market cycles, the availability
of labour and general economic conditions.

Although the forward-looking statements contained in this document are based on what management of
Primaris believes are reasonable assumptions, forward-looking statements involve significant risks and
uncertainties. They should not be read as guarantees of future performance or results and will not
necessarily be an accurate indicator of whether or not such results will be achieved. Readers are
cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements as a number of factors could cause
actual future results to differ from targets, expectations or estimates expressed in the forward-looking
statements. Material factors or assumptions that were applied in drawing a conclusion or making an
estimate set out in the forward-looking information may include: a less robust retail environment than has
been seen for the last several years; relatively stable interest costs; access to equity and debt capital
markets to fund, at acceptable costs, the future growth program and to enable the Trust to refinance debts
as they mature, and the availability of purchase opportunities for growth.

Except as required by applicable law, Primaris undertakes no obligation to publicly update or revise any
forward-looking statement, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise.

NON-GAAP MEASURES

Funds from operations (“FFQO”), net operating income (“NOI”) and earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”) are widely used supplemental measures of a Canadian real
estate investment trust’'s performance and are not defined under Canadian generally accepted accounting
principles (“"GAAP”). Management uses these measures when comparing itself to industry data or to
others in the marketplace. The MD&A describes FFO, NOI and EBITDA and provides reconciliations

to net income as defined under GAAP. FFO, NOI and EBITDA should not be considered alternatives

to net income or other measures that have been calculated in accordance with GAAP and may not

be comparable to measures presented by other issuers.

V 3 Primaris First Quarter Report 2010



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS OBJECTIVES AND OVERVIEW

Primaris is an unincorporated, open-ended real estate investment trust created in 2003 pursuant to its
Declaration of Trust, as amended and restated. Primaris is governed by the laws of Ontario. The units and
three series of convertible debentures of Primaris trade on the Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbols
PMZ.UN, PMZ.DB, PMZ.DB.A and PMZ.DB.B, respectively.

The objectives of Primaris are:
e to generate stable and growing cash distributions;
e to enhance the value of Primaris’ assets and maximize long-term unit value; and

e to expand the asset base of Primaris and its funds from operations through an accretive
acquisition program.

Primaris’ results have been consistent with these objectives. Key performance indicators for Primaris
include operational results both at the properties themselves as well as of Primaris in aggregate.

Q12010 Q4 2009 Q32009 Q2 2009
Unit price at period end $ 16.80 §$ 16.14  $ 1520 $ 11.84
Distributions $ 19,099 3 19,075 § 19,036 $ 19,055
Funds from operations' $ 22,539 $ 19,605 $ 18,850 $ 21,149
Funds from operations per unit diluted? $ 0350 $ 0.310 $ 0.304 $ 0.337
Income-producing properties net book value $ 1,746,766 $ 1,762,211 $ 1,409,717 $ 1,424,042
Occupancy (including committed space) 96.7% 97.2% 96.4% 96.4%
Tenant sales per square foot — same-property sales? $ 446 $ 449  $ 456 $ 461
Debt to Gross Book Value 53.5% 53.4% 49.4% 49.4%
Interest Coverage (EBITDA) 2.2 2.2 2.3 2.5
Mortgages — weighted average term to maturity 6.3 years 6.6 years 7.0 years 7.2 years
Mortgages — weighted average interest rate 5.7% 5.7% 5.7% 5.7%
Indebtedness — % at fixed interest rates 99.6% 98.8% 100% 100%

1 The reconciliation of FFO to cash flow from operating activities is contained in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows in the financial statements.

2 Tenant sales are reported on a one-month time lag during interim quarters; Q1 2010 is 12 months to February 2010, Q4 2009 is the 12 months to December 31, 2009, Q3 2009 is 12 months to August 2009,
and Q2 2009 is 12 months to May 2009.

Primaris completed its Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) on July 17, 2003, and acquired an initial portfolio

of six retail properties comprising 2,761,000 square feet of space. Primaris has since acquired a further
22 principal properties with some 7,700,000 square feet of space at an aggregate cost of $1,513 and
undertaken capital improvements representing a further $101 investment. In order to finance this growth
in assets, Primaris has raised capital through several equity offerings, the issuance of exchangeable
units, convertible unsecured debenture offerings and the use of secured mortgages.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Primaris’ business currently depends materially on two types of contracts:

1. lease agreements, which generate the revenues and put substantially all of the risk of variable
operating expenses with the tenants; and

2. loan agreements, which determine both interest expense, using fixed or variable rates, and loan
principal repayments.

The portfolio occupancy rate decreased during the first quarter. It was 96.7% at March 31, 2010, down
from 97.2% at December 31, 2009, and down from 97.3% at March 31, 2009.

For the 15 reporting properties owned throughout both the years ended February 28, 2010 and 2009,
sales per square foot, on a same-tenant basis, have decreased to $446 from $464 per square foot. For
the same 15 properties the total tenant sales volume has decreased 3.9%.

Same Tenant All Tenant
Sales per Square Foot Variance Total Sales Volume Variance

2010 2009 $ % 2010 2009 $ %
Dufferin Mall 517 544 (27) -5.2% 85,915,775 89,576,871  (3,661,096) -4.1%
Eglinton Square 298 316 (18) -6.0% 25,543,800 34,102,809  (8,559,009) -25.1%
Heritage Place 316 BE8) (17) -5.3% 25,776,057 29,115,880  (3,339,823) -11.5%
Lambton Mall 353 373 (20) -5.7% 44,652,754 48,614,498  (3,961,744) -8.1%
Place d'Orleans 450 459 9) -2.0% 107,440,816 106,386,639 1,054,177 1.0%
Place Du Royaume 407 410 (3) -0.6% 108,147,989 105,070,027 3,077,962 2.9%
Place Fleur De Lys 311 317 (6) -1.9% 75,961,551 74,222,026 1,739,525 2.3%
Stone Road Mall 510 532 (22) -4.4% 113,021,218 118,460,287  (5,439,069) -4.6%
Aberdeen Mall 369 403 (34) -9.1% 47,811,364 51,723,381  (3,912,017) -7.6%
Cornwall Centre 527 536 (9) -1.7% 77,069,144 77,724,319 (655,175) -0.8%
Grant Park 465 467 2) -0.5% 27,673,452 28,921,089  (1,247,637) -4.3%
Midtown Plaza 562 577 (15) -2.8% 134,458,937 135,737,757  (1,278,820) -0.9%
Northland Village 440 456 (16) -3.6% 45,805,819 47,522,416  (1,716,597) -3.6%
Orchard Park 473 502 (29) -6.1% 135,434,826 147,109,512 (11,674,686) -7.9%
Park Place Mall 502 542 (40) -7.9% 75,522,213 81,481,261  (5,959,048) -7.3%

446 464 (17) -3.7% 1,130,235,715 1,175,768,772 (45,533,057) -3.9%

The tenants’ sales decreased 3.7% per square foot, while the national average tenant sales as reported by
the International Council of Shopping Centers (“ICSC”) for the 12-month period ended February 28, 2010,
increased 3.4%. Primaris’ sales productivity of $446 is lower than the ICSC average of $561, largely
because the ICSC includes sales from super regional malls that have the highest sales per square foot

in the country.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

COMPARISON OF THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2010,
TO THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2009

Primaris’ financial results for the three months ended March 31, 2010, compared to the three-month period
ended March 31, 2009, are summarized below.

Three Months Three Months Comparative
Ended Ended Period
March 31, March 31, Favourable/
2010 2009 (Unfavourable)

Revenue
Minimum rent $ 47,601 $ 40,568 $ 7,033
Recoveries from tenants 28,536 25,311 3,225
Percent rent 412 724 (812)
Parking 1,468 1,528 (60)
Interest & other income 379 887 (508)
Total revenue 78,396 69,018 9,378

Expenses
Property operating 20,156 17,839 (2,317)
Property tax 14,070 12,562 (1,508)
Depreciation & amortization 19,259 18,550 (709)
Interest 19,273 14,625 (4,648)
Ground rent 312 300 (12)
73,070 63,876 (9,194)
Income from operations 5,326 5,142 184
General & administrative (2,080) (2,118) 38
Future income taxes (400) (2,500) 2,100
Gain on sale of land 74 - 74
Net income $ 2,920 $ 524  $ 2,396
Depreciation of income producing properties 17,071 16,999 72
Amortization of leasing costs 1,683 1,503 180
Accretion of convertible debentures 539 269 270
Future income taxes 400 2,500 (2,100)
Gain on sale of land (74) - (74)
Funds from operations $ 22,539 $ 21,795 $ 744
Funds from operations per unit — basic $ 0.360 $ 0350 $ 0.010

Funds from operations per unit — diluted $ 0.350 $ 0347 $ 0.0083
Funds from operations — payout ratio 87.2% 87.8% -0.6%
Distributions per unit $ 0.305 $ 0305 $ -
Weighted average units outstanding — basic 62,571,367 62,306,961 264,406
Weighted average units outstanding — diluted 72,417,515 67,230,327 5,187,188
Units outstanding, end of period 62,651,506 62,348,408 303,098

Primaris acquired Sunridge Mall in Calgary, Alberta and a 50% interest in Woodgrove Centre, Nanaimo,
British Columbia in December 2009 as well as a property in Toronto, Ontario, in April 2009 (collectively

the “2009 Acquisitions”). The total purchase price for the 2009 Acquisitions, including acquisition costs,
was $366,935.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Revenue

Revenue for Primaris is comprised primarily of minimum rent and operating expense and tax recoveries
collected from tenants and percentage rent generated through tenant sales, as well as interest, parking

revenue, specialty leasing and lease-surrender revenue.

Current three-month revenue of $78,396 is $9,378 greater than the comparative three-month period. The
2009 Acquisitions contributed $10,112 to this positive variance and same properties were also up $68.
Offsetting these positive operating revenue results was a $336 reduction in corporate interest earned

as Primaris had lower cash balances during the first quarter of 2010. In addition, the first quarter of 2009
included a $466 gain through the redemption of convertible debentures under Primaris’ normal course

issuer bid.

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses of $34,226, before ground rent, are $3,825 greater than in the comparative three-
month period. The 2009 Acquisitions account for $3,851 of the increase. The remaining properties had

a decrease of $26.

Net Operating Income — All Properties

Variance to

Three Months Three Months Comparative

Ended Ended Period

March 31, March 31, Favourable/

2010 2009 (Unfavourable)

Operating revenue $ 78,373 § 68,193 $ 10,180
Operating expenses 34,538 30,701 (3,837)
Net operating income $ 43,835 §$ 37,492 §$ 6,343

Operating revenue from properties includes all revenue except corporate interest and other income,

and operating expenses include operating expenses from properties, property taxes and ground rent.
Net operating income of $43,835 is $6,343 greater than in the comparative three-month period. The 2009
Acquisitions generated an increase of $6,261. The balance is an increase of $82 generated by the

remainder of the properties in the portfolio.

Net Operating Income — Same Properties

Variance to

Three Months Three Months Comparative

Ended Ended Period

March 31, March 31, Favourable/

2010 2009 (Unfavourable)

Operating revenue $ 68,261 $ 68,193 $ 68
Operating expenses 30,687 30,701 14
Net operating income $ 37,574 % 37,492 $ 82

The same-property comparison consists of the 26 principal properties that were owned throughout both
the current and comparative three-month periods. Net operating income, on a same-property basis, was

$82 or 0.22% higher than the comparative period.
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The $68 increase in same property revenues is the net result from increases in minimum rent, seasonal
revenue and lease surrender fees and offsetting decreases in recoveries, percentage rent and parking.

On a same-property basis, operating expenses were $14 lower than in the comparative period as a result
of a $619 decline in recoverable costs approximately half of which results from the change in property
management fees. This decline was offset by a $388 increase in property taxes, a $205 increase in
non-recoverable expenses and a $12 increase in ground rent expense. The increase in non-recoverable
expenses is non-recurring and is due to writing off development costs for a proposed tenant that did

not materialize.

Net operating income, on a same-property basis, would be 0.59% higher than the comparative period
excluding the non-recurring expense for development costs.

Interest Expense
Variance to
Three Three Comparative
Months Ended Months Ended Period
March 31, March 31, Favourable/
2010 2009 (Unfavourable)
Mortgages payable $ 15,083 §$ 12232  § (2,851)
Amortization of net loss on cash flow hedges 60 62 2
Convertible debentures 3,317 1,809 (1,508)
Bank indebtedness 293 119 (174)
Amortization of financing costs 520 403 (117)

Capitalized interest = _ _
$ 19,273 $ 14,625 $ (4,648)

Interest expense of $19,273 is $4,648 higher than the comparative three-month period due primarily to
an increase of $1,508 in convertible debenture interest expense due to the issuance of a third series of
convertible debentures during the fourth quarter of 2009 and $2,851 of interest on the mortgages on the
new properties acquired in late 2009.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization increased by $709. The 2009 Acquisitions added $3,375; however lower
charges in the remainder of the properties created offsetting decreases. The decreases are primarily
related to in-place leasing costs, some of which came to the end of their amortization period, resulting
in either a partial period of depreciation or no depreciation being recorded in the first quarter

of 2010 compared to the first quarter of 2009.

Ground Rent

Ground rent expense amounted to $312, which is $12 more than in the comparative period.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased by $38, primarily due to the reduction of transition
expenses offset by consulting costs for the IFRS project and new trustee compensation costs. Prior to
January 1, 2010 Primaris retained Oxford Properties Group to provide property and asset management,
leasing and development services. The internalization of management resulted in a similar total cost for
the quarter when compared to the previous year; however, some amounts are expensed in the current
platform that were previously capitalized.
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Three Three

Months Ended Months Ended

March 31, March 31,

2010 2009

Corporate expenses $ 2,148 $ 796

Asset management fee - 969

Transition costs (68) 353
General & administrative $ 2,080 $ 2,118'1
Property management charges 2,351 2,328
Leasing charges 212 -2
Development fees - 633
Leasing fees 133 2204

Total Costs $ 4,776 $ 4,729

Reported on Income Statement.
Reported on Income Statement as part of Operating Expenses.
Capitalized to Income Producing Properties (2010 will have charges here only with reference to the 50% interest in Woodgrove Centre).

AW N =

Capitalized to Leasing Costs.

Future Tax Expense

During the current period Primaris has recorded a non-cash expense of $400 to account for future income
taxes. The expense is a result of changes in the temporary differences between amounts recorded for
accounting purposes and for tax purposes. The expense has no impact on Primaris’ cash flows

or distributions.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Funds from Operations

Primaris calculates its FFO in accordance with the Real Property Association of Canada (“REALpac”)
White Paper on Funds from Operations issued in 2004. The purpose of the White Paper was to provide
reporting issuers and investors with greater guidance on the definition of FFO and to help promote more
consistent disclosure from reporting issuers.

Three Three

Months Ended Months Ended

March 31, March 31,

2010 2009

Net Income $ 2920 § 524
Depreciation of Income Producing Properties 17,071 16,999
Amortization of leasing costs 1,683 1,503
Accretion of convertible debentures 539 269
Gain on sale of land (74) -
Future income taxes 400 2,500
Funds from operations $ 22,539 §$ 21,795
Funds from operations per unit — basic $ 0.360 $ 0.350
Funds from operations per unit — diluted $ 0.350 $ 0.347
Funds from operations — payout ratio 87.2% 87.8%
Distributions per unit $ 0.305 $ 0.305
Weighted average units outstanding — basic 62,571,367 62,306,961
Weighted average units outstanding — diluted 72,417,515 67,230,327
Units outstanding, end of period 62,651,506 62,348,408
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An advantage of the FFO measure is improved comparability between Canadian and foreign Real Estate
Investment Trusts (“REITs”). A disadvantage is that FFO is not a perfect measure of cash flow. FFO adds
back, to net income, depreciation and amortization of assets purchased, amortization of leasing costs and
accretion of convertible debentures. It includes non-cash revenues related to accounting for straight-line
rent and it makes no deduction for the recurring capital expenditures necessary to maintain the existing
earnings stream. The research analyst community adjusts FFO for certain items in an attempt to develop
another measure of economic profitability and to allow for the differences between REITs in relation to
their capital expenditure programs. Our disclosure of capital expenditures may assist readers in making
such adjustments.

FFO for the three-month period ended March 31, 2010, increased $744. The increase is due to $3,219
contributed by the 2009 acquisitions. Same properties also increased $343. Offsetting the increased
revenue from operations was a $2,818 increase in corporate expenses. As previously discussed,
corporate interest and other revenues declined $802. Interest expense was up $1,597 primarily

due to the issuance of a third series of convertible debentures in the third quarter of 2009. $457
additional depreciation was recorded on furniture and fixtures that is not added back in the FFO
calculation. FFO benefited from a $38 decline in general and administrative expenses.

FFO per unit for the first quarter of 2010 had a favourable variance of $0.003 per unit on a diluted basis
compared to the prior period.

The diluted weighted average number of units outstanding increased from the comparative quarter
because of three factors: the issuance of convertible debentures, the issuance of units pursuant to
Primaris’ Distribution Reinvestment Program (“DRIP”), and the dilutive impact of the equity incentive
plan, partially offset by the repurchase of units and convertible debentures under Primaris’ normal
course issuer bid.

The reconciliation of FFO to cash flow from operating activities is contained in the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows in the financial statements. The reconciliation of net income to EBITDA,
a non-GAAP measure, is on page 11.

QUARTERLY TRENDS

Selected Quarterly Information

2010 2009 2008
Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2 Q1 Q4 Q3 Q2
Revenue $ 78,396 $ 72,556 $ 66,071 $ 66,753 $ 69,018 $ 71,783 $ 66,510 $ 64,718
Seasonal revenue 2,983 4,700 2,551 2,499 2,551 4,513 2,740 2,464
Net operating income 43,835 40,842 37,138 37,693 37,492 40,344 37,759 37,208
Net income (Loss) 2,920 6,437 (986) 691 524 5,149 1,237 1,035
Total assets 1,828,736 1,856,017 1,543,168 1,568,718 1,580,720 1,608,832 1,624,247 1,601,800
Indebtedness 1,278,517 1,282,470 977,595 982,526 986,636 994,130 998,724 955,697
Debt to Gross
Book Value 53.5% 53.4% 49.4% 49.4% 49.3% 48.9% 49.0% 47.7%
Diluted net income
(loss) per unit $ 0.047 $ 0.108 $ (0.016) $ 0.009 $ 0.008 $ 0.083 $ 0.020 $ 0.017

Diluted funds

from operations $ 0.350 $ 0.310 $ 0.304 $ 0.337 $ 0.347 $ 0371 $ 0.350 $ 0.351
Distributions per unit ' $ 0.305 $ 0.305 $ 0.305 $ 0.305 $ 0.305 $ 0.305 $ 0.305 $ 0.305
Units outstanding,

end of period 62,651,506 62,534,594 62,477,749 62,413,012 62,348,408 62,269,712 62,239,176 62,179,175

Note: As at April 30, 2010, 62,681,479 there were units outstanding.
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Primaris’ quarterly results for the last eight quarters have been primarily affected by five factors:

five property acquisitions, issuance of convertible debentures, seasonality of revenues, the timing of
incurrence of operating expenses and the recovery of these operating expenses from tenants. In addition,
redevelopment activities have had an impact on revenue, net operating income and net income.

The 2009 Acquisitions have resulted in increased revenues and net operating income. However, on a
per unit basis these increases are substantially offset by interest expense for an issuance of convertible
debentures and for new mortgages payable.

Primaris experiences seasonality in earnings, with stronger results in the fourth quarter of each year due to
increased temporary seasonal leasing and stronger percentage rent revenues, as a significant number of
tenants have calendar lease years. As a result of these factors, revenues, net income and funds from
operations in the fourth quarter should be stronger than in other quarters’.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Primaris expects to be able to meet all of its current obligations'. Management expects to finance
future growth through the use of (i) cash, (ii) conventional mortgage debt secured by income-producing
properties, (iii) secured short-term financing through its $120,000 revolving credit facility, (iv) cash flow
from operations, and (v) the issuance of equity and convertible debentures’.

Management continues to take steps to maintain a strong balance sheet position. There is a cash balance
of $2,999 at March 31, 2010. With the exception of a small $3,709 mortgage maturing in the second
qguarter of 2010, there are no outstanding mortgages payable that mature until 2011,

At March 31, 2010, Primaris’ cash position has decreased, when compared to December 31, 2009, due

to distributions to Unitholders, scheduled mortgage repayments, and capital expenditures on properties,
building improvements, tenant improvements and recoverable improvements, partially offset by property
operations. As at March 31, 2010 Primaris had drawn $16,500 on its revolving credit facility. The balance
was $15,000 as at December 31, 2009.

Interest Coverage expressed as EBITDA divided by net interest expense was 2.2 times for the current
quarter. Primaris defines EBITDA as net income increased by interest expense, depreciation, amortization
and income tax expense. EBITDA is a non-GAAP measure and may not be comparable to similar
measures used by other entities.

Three Months Three Months

Ended Ended

March 31, March 31,

2010 2009

Net income $ 2920 $ 524
Interest 19,273 14,625
Depreciation 17,576 17,047
Amortization 1,683 1,503
Future income taxes 400 2,500
EBITDA $ 41,852 §$ 36,199
EBITDA/Interest 2.2 2.5

The Debt to Gross Book Value Ratio was 53.5% as at March 31, 2010, which is significantly below

the 60.0% maximum as mandated by Primaris’ Declaration of Trust. For the purposes of calculating the
numerator in the Debt to Gross Book Value Ratio, the convertible debentures are excluded from debt in
accordance with Primaris’ Declaration of Trust and the remaining debt premiums of $302 associated with
the IPO are included. If the convertible debentures are included, the Debt to Gross Book Value Ratio
would be 61.6%.

1 These comments are based on various assumptions and are subject to various risks. See Forward-Looking Information on page 1.
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During the three-month period ended March 31, 2010, $358 of face value of the 6.75% series of
convertible debentures was converted into equity. During the same period, there have been no
conversions of the 5.85% or 6.30% series of convertible debentures. The remaining outstanding
balance at face value as at March 31, 2010, of the 6.75% series is $5,393, the 5.85% series is
$93,476 and the 6.30% series is $86,250.

During the current quarter, Primaris made $5,280 of scheduled principal payments on its mortgages.

Primaris paid $19,099 in distributions to Unitholders during the first quarter of 2010. Primaris instituted a
Dividend Reinvestment Plan (DRIP) in October 2003. Currently, Unitholders representing approximately

3.3% of units outstanding have elected to participate in the DRIP. This represents approximately $2,520
per annum of additional capital to treasury, based on current distribution rates and units outstanding.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

In accordance with its objectives, Primaris distributes a high percentage of its FFO to Unitholders.

As such it does not retain a material amount of operating cash flow. Primaris has a number of capital
requirements including loan principal payments, acquisitions, developments, recoverable improvements
and maintenance capital. Capital requirements for loan principal payments, acquisitions and development
are generally sourced by financing for each project. Expenditures for acquisitions, developments and
expansions are classified in the statement of cash flows as “investing activities.” Over the longer term,
with a stabilized receivable pool from tenants, the capital required for recoverable improvements is
derived primarily from the ongoing collection of the receivable balance from tenants. Capital
expenditures of a maintenance nature are classified as “operating activities” using such captions

as “leasing costs” or as “investing activities” in the case of non-recoverable capital expenditures,

or “recoverable improvements.”

Leasing costs may include leasing commissions, tenant improvement allowances, tenant inducements and
expenditures by Primaris to prepare space for occupancy by a tenant. Primaris incurred $1,170 of leasing
costs to date in 2010, which is comprised of $1,037 in tenant improvement allowances, and $133 in
leasing commissions. The timing of such expenditures is irregular and depends more on the satisfaction
of contractual obligations in a lease rather than on the timing of the leasing process. Leasing costs are
amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the related lease.

Recoverable improvements include expenditures of a capital nature that are generally recoverable from
tenants under the terms of their leases. They may include, but are not limited to, items such as parking lot
resurfacing and common area roof replacement. These items are recorded as recoverable improvements
and depreciated over their useful lives; the revenue from tenants is recorded as recoveries from tenants.
Primaris had a net balance of $21,514 recorded as recoverable improvements at the beginning of 2010,
$91 recorded as additional expenditures during the year and $999 recovered from tenants during the
year to date. This resulted in a $20,606 recoverable improvements cost balance as at March 31, 2010,
net of amortization.

Maintenance of Productive Capacity

The primary focus in an analysis of capital expenditures should be a differentiation between those costs
incurred to maintain the enterprise versus those costs incurred to achieve a long-term improvement in
the enterprise’s ability to generate incremental cash flow.
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Acquisitions and the expansion of existing assets are two areas of capital expenditures that should
normally be considered as increasing the productive capacity of the enterprise. Capital expenditures
incurred on existing space would usually be costs of maintaining productive capacity. However, there
are many examples of capital projects that fundamentally change the nature of existing space so that
the productive capacity of the space is permanently changed. In the case of Primaris, the conversion
of anchor stores to smaller stores usually represents a permanent increase in the productive capacity
of the asset. This is because anchor tenants generally pay lower rents per square foot than the smaller
replacement stores. While this conversion of space occurs less frequently than the usual capital
maintenance projects, conversions tend to be larger in scale than day-to-day activity.

The analysis of historical capital expenditures (which includes leasing capital) that follows starts by
including all non-acquisition capital expenditures and then deducts those determined by management
to be increases in productive capacity. The remaining net figure is a measure of maintenance capital.

Primaris endeavours to fund maintenance capital from cash flow from ongoing operations in order to
manage Primaris on a sustainable basis. Leasing capital varies with tenant demand and merchandising
mix strategies of a property. Primaris actively manages its merchandising mix and activities to achieve a
balance of new and renewal leasing. This enables management to increase retail sales and grow rental
income. Maintenance capital also captures other productive capacity capital that is not chargeable to
tenants, such as that related to mall entrances or mechanical equipment. Primaris’ experience with these
is that they are incurred in irregular amounts over a longer time period, which means that Primaris needs
to find financial resources for their incurrence. A review of a time series of historical data is required to
develop a normalized view of these. The following table summarizes the historic maintenance capital of
Primaris for the six properties owned throughout the last ten complete years:

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
Leasing capital $ 2223 $§ 2872 $§ 4664 $ 10,743 $§ 3695 $ 2253 ¢ 1,157 $§ 5716 $ 7920 $ 1,627
Other capital 5,782 3,223 9,984 35,043 14,857 8,925 318 2,426 13,632 2,462

Less: additions to
productive capacity (4,109) (1,077) (12,612) (35,775) (16,335) (8,023) (212) (3,012) (17,064) (2,337)
$ 3896 $ 5018 $§ 2036 $ 10011 $ 2217 $ 3,155 $ 1263 $ 5130 $ 4488 $ 1,752

These six properties have a rentable area of approximately 2.85 million square feet. The average
maintenance capital cost per square foot over the ten-year period was $1.37. These historical costs may
not be indicative of future costs for Primaris’ 10.5 million square foot portfolio. However, an extrapolation
of these costs generates an amount of $0.20 per diluted unit per annum as maintenance capital.

An amount for maintenance capital is typically deducted from FFO in order to estimate a sustainable
and recurring amount that can be distributed to Unitholders. Primaris currently has adequate financial
resources to fund its capital expenditure program without anticipating any disruption to its distributions.

Current Redevelopment Projects

During 2009 Primaris completed phase one of a redevelopment at Lambton Mall in Sarnia, Ontario. This
redevelopment resulted in a vacant anchor store location.

Commencing in the fall of 2010 the second phase of this project is anticipated to introduce a food court to
improve the centre’s amenities and bring a significant market tenant into the vacant space to enhance the
Mall’s market presence. The project is expected to cost approximately $13.0 million and be completed in
the spring of 20112,

2These comments are based on various assumptions and are subject to various risks. See Forward-Looking Information on page 1.
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A second development project at Orchard Park Shopping Centre in Kelowna, British Columbia is
scheduled to start in the Spring of 2010 for completion by November of 2011. This project’s plans
involve the construction of approximately 35,000 square feet. The new space is intended to bring

a dynamic first-to-market tenant to the centre and allow for the relocation of the mall offices. The project
which is expected to cost $7.7 million is anticipated to increase the centre’s market presence and create
additional consumer draws.

Redevelopment projects will be funded through a combination of cash, draws on the operating line and
mortgage refinancing?.

DISTRIBUTIONS

In determining the amount of distributions to be made to Unitholders, Primaris considers many factors,
including provisions in its Declaration of Trust, overall health of the business, its expected need for capital,
covenants in debt agreements and taxable income.

At Primaris’ last Annual and Special meeting in June 2009, the Unitholders approved eliminating the
requirement to distribute Primaris’ taxable income. There are financial covenants in loan agreements in
Primaris and its subsidiaries that require that various conditions be met before funds can be distributed
to Unitholders.

The Distributions Committee of the Board regularly reviews Primaris’ rate of distributions. In its
deliberations, the committee has considered the following items:

¢ the expectation of a weaker economic environment;

e Primaris’ Operating Plan;

e availability of cash resources, including a $120,000 line of credit;

e minimal loan maturities in 2010;

e conservative leverage measured on both a balance sheet and operating basis; and
e |easing and development capital requirements.

At the most recent meeting on April 29, 2010, the Distributions Committee recommended that the current
rate of distributions of $1.22 per unit per annum be maintained.

Corporate Structure and Debt Covenants

Primaris is an unincorporated, open-ended Real Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”). It owns a subsidiary
trust, PRR Trust, which in turn owns a number of subsidiary trusts, partnerships and corporations. All of
Primaris’ operating assets, including real property, are owned by either PRR Trust or its subsidiary entities.

Primaris is a borrower pursuant to many third-party loan agreements. Subsidiary entities are typically
the borrower where secured debt is used. PRR Trust is the borrower under Primaris’ operating credit
agreement. In some instances, including the operating credit agreement, lenders have guarantees
and/or loan covenants from an entity other than the borrower under the loan agreement.

No loan agreement directly limits or restricts Primaris’ ability to declare and pay distributions to
Unitholders, so long as payments are current under the loan. Certain secured loan agreements restrict
Primaris’ ability to move cash from a borrowing entity to another Primaris entity if the borrower is in default
of the loan agreement. However, as a practical point, if Primaris were ever in material default of a loan
agreement, it might otherwise become difficult to continue paying distributions at the then-current rate.

3 These comments are based on various assumptions and are subject to various risks. See Forward-Looking Information on page 1.
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Primaris’ operating credit agreement contains four financial covenants Primaris must maintain, as defined
in the agreement:

1. a Debt to Gross Book Value Ratio of not more than 60%;
2. an Interest Coverage Ratio of greater than 1.75;

3. a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of greater than 1.5; and
4. a minimum Unitholders’ Equity of $700,000.

Primaris is in compliance with these covenants (refer to note 17 of the Consolidated Financial Statements)
and has no defaults under any of its loan agreements.

Tax

There are income tax implications on our distribution policy. The table below indicates the level of
historic taxable income on the “Income” line. It is possible that a gain on a sale of a REIT asset could
be individually significant such that selling one asset could generate a sufficient taxable gain to erase
the entire tax-deferred component of Primaris’ annual distributions.

Primaris’ historic trend in the split of distributions between return of capital and other income has been
as follows:

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
Return of capital 76.6% 63.6% 80.0% 77.6% 56.4% 65.6% 74.4%
Income 21.6% 36.0% 20.0% 22.4% 43.6% 34.4% 25.6%
Capital gain 1.8% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

FINANCIAL CONDITION

Cash
Cash and cash equivalents of $2,999 are invested in deposit notes issued by Canadian Schedule | banks.

Income-Producing Properties

Income-producing properties represent 96% of total assets as at March 31, 2010. The property portfolio
comprises 28 principal properties and several smaller properties and, as such, represents a moderate
degree of market diversification. However, as revenues are earned from individual tenants and not
properties as a whole, one should consider that these assets include over 950 different tenants, which
represents a significant diversification of revenues. In addition, the 28 principal properties have good
geographic diversification.

The future financial performance of income-producing properties is a function of a number of factors. The
principal factors include occupancy rates, trends in rental rates achieved on leasing or renewing space
currently leased, retail sales performance and the contractual increases in rent that are programmed to
occur mid-lease.

Primaris leased 271,747 square feet of space during the first quarter of 2010. This represented 94

leases of generally smaller stores and 4 major tenants. Approximately 61% of the leased space during
the current quarter of 2010 resulted from the renewal of existing tenants (70% if the majors are excluded).
The weighted average new rent for renewals of existing tenants in the current quarter, on a cash basis,
represented a 4.5% increase over the previous rent (5.0% if the majors are excluded).
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Geographic Diversification

The income-producing properties are located in seven provinces. As at March 31, 2010, the portfolio
distribution based on annualized minimum rent is as follows:

(BASED ON ANNUALIZED MINIMUM RENT AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2009)

NEW BRUNSWICK
QUEBEC 1%
12% BRITISH COLUMBIA

18%

ALBERTA
18%

ONTARIO
36%

SASKATCHEWAN

MANITOBA 1%

4%

Lease and Rent Expiries
TOTAL PORTFOLIO LEASE MATURITIES AND WEIGHTED AVERAGE
MINIMUM RENTS PSF EXPIRING
(AS AT MARCH 31, 2010)
[ | LEASE MATURITIES —l— RENT EXPIRING

1,400,000 $35

1,200,000 11.09 $30
10.2% 10.2% =
,000, $25 D
1,000,000 4.< o 5 E
7k o
/ \ =
.. 800,000 7\/7 \.\ $20 B
= 6.7% =
S e00000 | [ | $15 E
= 4.6% s
s ;]
400,000 | | [ — || sw0 &
5
=
=
200,000 || — [ I 85 @
3

0 $0

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

YEAR

Lease maturities are no greater than 11.0% of the portfolio in any year between 2010 and 2015.
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Largest Tenants

The following table illustrates the 10 largest tenants by related group in Primaris’ portfolio of income-
producing properties as measured by their percentage contribution to total annual minimum rent, as at

March 31, 2010.

Percentage Weighted
of Total Average
Annual Lease Term
Minimum to Maturity
Tenant Groups Rent Area (sq. ft.) (Years)
HBC 6.5% 2,049,827 7.6
YM 3.1% 209,846 4.5
Forzani 2.5% 357,837 4.1
Sears 2.5% 979,436 7.3
Shoppers Drug Mart 2.4% 156,425 6.2
Reitmans 2.3% 138,578 3.2
Loblaws 1.9% 323,764 5.6
Best Buy 1.7% 180,353 4.0
Canadian Tire 1.6% 220,194 10.6
Comark 1.4% 83,101 S}

25.9%

Indebtedness and Other Obligations
Convertible
Unsecured Bsnk Ground Operating

Year Mortgages Debentures Indebtedness Leases Leases Total
2010 remainder $ 20,639 $ 16,500 $ 881 $ 1,077 39,097
2011 60,043 1,248 1,436 62,727
2012 45,922 1,375 1,436 48,733
2013 236,678 1,400 1,469 239,547
2014 118,014 98,869 1,400 1,440 219,723
Thereafter 603,444 86,250 42,525 6,631 738,850
$ 1,084,740 $ 185,119  § 16,500 $ 48,829 § 13,489 $ 1,348,677

Note: Of the total mortgages balance, $122,167 is recourse only to the underlying property.

Primaris had $1,084,740 of mortgages payable, excluding debt premiums of $4,763 and financing fees
of $4,859, as at March 31, 2010, bearing a weighted average interest rate of 5.7%. This rate reflects the
marking-to-market of interest rates for all debts assumed in conjunction with property acquisitions. The

mortgages payable have a weighted average term to maturity of 6.3 years.

The Indebtedness and Other Obligations table above includes ground rent, on a cash basis, pursuant
to leases at Park Place Shopping Centre and Orchard Park Shopping Centre. The amounts in the table
reflect the assumption that Primaris exercises its renewal options in the respective ground leases. This
assumption is consistent with the depreciation estimates for these properties.

It is expected that principal payments, ground rent and operating leases will be funded from operations
and from draws on the revolving credit facility.

V 17 Primaris First Quarter Report 2010



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The financial statements include accounting estimates and assumptions with respect to the allocation of
purchase price on acquisitions, the recovery revenue accruals, fair value of mortgages and debentures
payable, the reversal of temporary tax differences and the useful lives used to calculate depreciation and
amortization. These estimates and assumptions could affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses and cash flows during the period. These estimates
are made by management and discussed with the Audit Committee and Board of Trustees.

FUTURE CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

In February 2008, the Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed that International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) will, for Canadian publicly accountable profit-oriented enterprises, replace
Canadian GAAP effective for fiscal periods beginning on or after January 1, 2011, with comparative
figures presented on the same basis. The Canadian Securities Administrators have provided issuers
with the option of early adopting IFRS for Canadian reporting purposes. Senior management did not
choose this option and therefore, these new standards will be effective for Primaris on January 1, 2011.

As a result, Primaris has developed a plan to convert its Consolidated Financial Statements to IFRS by that
date and senior management is a committed part of the conversion team. The plan will be implemented
through three phases. The first phase involved completing a detailed review of the differences between
IFRS and Canadian GAAP as they apply to our business. This analysis identifies the accounting policy
decisions that need to be made in order to report under IFRS. Based on the current state of IFRS, this
phase has been completed; however, the International Accounting Standards Board has projects
underway which may change IFRS standards. Management will assess the impact of any changes

in the standards as part of an on-going process.

During the second phase of the conversion plan the decisions for accounting policies will be made.
Management will assess the impact of these new policies and evaluate the design changes necessary
for the following elements:

e financial reporting and accounting policies;

e information technology and data systems;

e internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls;
e operations processes;

e employee training;

e certain debt agreements and the Declaration of Trust;

e communication with users of our financial reporting; and

e general and administrative costs.

This assessment is underway and is being monitored by senior management to ensure that the
Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in accordance with IFRS standards by the January 1,
2011 transition date.

The final stage includes execution of the required design changes identified in the second phase and
evaluation of the results. The changes will be formally approved and adopted by Primaris, then rolled
out with effective training programs.
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Impact of Adoption of IFRS

IFRS is based on a conceptual framework similar to Canadian GAAP; however, significant differences exist
in the recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure for certain accounting areas. Management is
not yet in a position to comment on the potential impacts on Primaris’ financial statements, some of which
may be material. In particular, the opening Consolidated Balance Sheet will reflect the revaluation of
income producing properties to fair market. The significant IFRS differences that are expected to have

an impact on Primaris’ Consolidated Financial Statements include the following:

Investment Property

IFRS defines investment property as property held by the owner, or by the lessee under a finance lease,
to earn rental income, capital appreciation or both, but not property held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services, for administrative purposes, or for sale in the ordinary course of business.
Assets Primaris has classified for income producing properties under GAAP will qualify for inclusion as
investment property under IFRS.

Under IFRS, Primaris has a choice of measuring properties using the historical cost model or the fair
value model. The cost model is generally consistent with GAAP and would require that the fair value of
the investment properties be disclosed in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Under the
fair value model, investment properties are measured at their fair values, and changes in fair value are
recorded to the Consolidated Statement of Income each reporting period. Other components, such as
above or below market rents, which are currently reported as other assets under GAAP, will be reclassified
as investment property under IFRS. There are no charges for depreciation or amortization as seen in the
cost model.

Primaris expects to use the fair value model when preparing its Consolidated Financial Statements under
IFRS. Primaris has substantially completed the design of its investment property valuation process and
has commenced implementation. The magnitude of the impact to the Consolidated Balance Sheet can
not be quantified at this time.

Leases

GAAP requires that tenant incentives be recorded as a reduction to rental revenue over the term of the

lease; while tenant improvements and certain other leasing costs are capitalized and amortized through
amortization expense. The interpretation of IFRS may result in more tenant allowances being treated as
incentives than under GAAP.

IFRS requires rental revenue to be recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease since
inception, whereas GAAP only required rental revenue to be recognized on a straight-line basis in a
prospective basis commencing January 1, 2004.

The effects to the Income Statement from these potential changes cannot be determined at this time.
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Business Combinations

Under IFRS property acquisitions may be classified as business combinations. While both GAAP and IFRS
require the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations, IFRS prohibits the capitalization
of transactions costs (including commissions, land transfer tax, appraisals, and legal fees associated

with a purchase). This may have a material negative impact on the Statement of Earnings in the year

of acquisition.

IFRS requires that the standards for business combinations be applied from inception. Rather than apply
the standard retrospectively to all acquisitions, Primaris expects to elect the IFRS 1 exemption to restate
its business combinations at the transition date only. Any assets and liabilities that no longer meet the
definition under IFRS that were previously recognized on acquisition will be derecognized and reallocated
to other components of the purchase price equation.

Trust Units

Under GAAP, trust units are presented as equity. The interpretation of IFRS may lead to trust units

being classified as a liability rather than equity. To be classified as equity, trust units must be the most
subordinated class of instruments, and there must be no contractual obligation to deliver cash or another
financial asset to another entity. Primaris has taken steps to meet these requirements and expects to
present trust units as equity on IFRS prepared Financial Statements. Within Primaris, there also exists
exchangeable units which may be converted to trust units without the payment of additional consideration.
Industry discussion continues around whether these types of units would be recorded as debt or equity.

Income Taxes

There remains an industry-wide ongoing discussion as to whether or not the IFRS standards for income
tax will require the recognition of future income taxes for entities such as Primaris which expect to meet
the Exception under the SIFT rules by the transition date. If required, a deferred tax asset or liability
would be recognized for the temporary timing differences between assets and liabilities measured for
the Financial Statements and measured for tax purposes.

RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Real Property Ownership

Primaris owns 28 principal properties and several smaller properties and is expected in the future to
directly or indirectly acquire interests in other real property. All real property investments are subject to
elements of risk. Such investments are affected by general economic conditions, local real estate markets,
changing demographics, supply and demand for leased premises, competition from other available
premises, and various other factors.
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Tenant Risks

The value of real property and any improvements thereto depends on the credit and financial stability of
the tenants. Primaris’ FFO may be adversely affected if tenants become unable to meet their obligations
under their leases or if a significant amount of available space in the properties in which Primaris has an
interest becomes vacant and is not able to be leased on economically favourable lease terms. Upon the
expiry of any lease, there can be no assurance that the lease will be renewed or the tenant replaced. The
terms of any subsequent lease may be less favourable to Primaris than the existing lease. In the event of
default by a tenant, delays or limitations in enforcing rights as lessor may be experienced and substantial
costs in protecting Primaris’ investment may be incurred. Furthermore, at any time, a tenant of any of the
properties in which Primaris has an interest may seek the protection of bankruptcy, insolvency or similar
laws that could result in the rejection and termination of such tenant’s lease and thereby cause a reduction
in the cash flow available to Primaris. The ability to rent unleased space in the properties in which Primaris
has an interest will be affected by many factors. Costs may be incurred in making improvements or repairs
to the property required by a new tenant.

Certain of the major tenants are permitted to cease operating from their leased premises at any time

at their option. Other major tenants are permitted to cease operating from their leased premises or to
terminate their leases if certain events occur. Some Commercial Retail Units (“CRU”) tenants have a right
to cease operating from their premises if certain major tenants cease operating from their premises. The
exercise of such rights by a tenant may have a negative effect on a property. There can be no assurance
that such rights will not be exercised in the future.

Fixed Costs

Certain significant expenditures, including property taxes, ground rent, maintenance costs, mortgage
payments, insurance costs and related charges must be made throughout the period of ownership of
real property regardless of whether the property is producing any income. If Primaris is unable to meet
mortgage payments or ground rent payments on any property, losses could be sustained as a result
of the mortgagee’s exercise of its rights of foreclosure or sale or the landlord’s exercise of remedies.

Asset Liquidity

Real property investments tend to be relatively illiquid, with the degree of liquidity generally fluctuating
in relation to demand for, and the perceived desirability of, such investments. Such illiquidity may tend
to limit Primaris’ ability to vary its portfolio promptly in response to changing economic or investment
conditions. If Primaris were to be required to liquidate its real property investments, the proceeds to
Primaris might be significantly less than the aggregate carrying value of its properties.
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Capital Expenditures and Distributions

Leasing capital and maintenance capital are incurred in irregular amounts and may exceed actual cash
available from operations during certain periods. Primaris may be required to use part of its debt capacity
or reduce distributions in order to accommodate such items. Capital for recoverable improvements may
exceed recovery of amounts from tenants. Primaris is subject to provisions in its Declaration of Trust as
well as to debt agreements that may impact the quantum of distributions. The sale of income-producing
properties with inherent taxable gains could materially change Primaris’ level of distributions.

Retail Concentration

Primaris’ portfolio is primarily limited to Canadian retail properties. Consequently, the market value of the
existing properties and the income generated from them could be negatively affected by changes in the
domestic retail environment.

Reliance on Anchor Tenants

Retail shopping centres have traditionally relied on there being a number of anchor tenants (department
stores, discount department stores and grocery stores) in the centre, and therefore they are subject to the
risk of such anchor tenants either moving out of the property or going out of business. A property could be
negatively affected by such a loss.

Land Leases

To the extent that the properties in which Primaris has or will have an interest are located on leased land,
the land leases may be subject to periodic rate resets that may fluctuate. This may result in significant
rental rate adjustments and therefore have a potential negative effect on the cash flow of Primaris.

Environmental Matters

As an owner of interests in real property in Canada, Primaris is subject to various Canadian federal,
provincial and municipal laws relating to environmental matters. Such laws provide that Primaris could
be liable for the costs of removal of certain hazardous substances and remediation of certain hazardous
locations. The failure to remove or remediate such substances or locations, if any, could adversely affect
Primaris’ ability to sell such real estate or to borrow using such real estate as collateral and could
potentially also result in claims against the owner by private plaintiffs.

Primaris intends to make the necessary capital and operating expenditures to ensure to the extent
possible compliance with environmental laws and regulations. Although there can be no assurances,
Primaris does not believe that costs relating to environmental matters will have a material adverse effect
on Primaris’ business, financial condition or results of operations. However, environmental laws and
regulations can change and Primaris or its subsidiaries may become subject to more stringent
environmental laws and regulations in the future. Compliance with more stringent environmental laws and
regulations could have an adverse effect on Primaris’ business, financial condition or results of operations
and distributions.

4 These comments are based on various assumptions and are subject to various risks. See Forward-Looking Information on page 1.
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Financing Risks

Primaris has indebtedness outstanding of approximately $1,278,517 as at March 31, 2010. A portion of
the cash flow generated by the existing properties and any future acquired properties will be devoted

to servicing such debt, and there can be no assurance that Primaris will continue to generate sufficient
cash flow from operations to meet required interest and principal payments. If Primaris is unable to meet
interest or principal payments, it could be required to seek renegotiation of such payments or obtain
additional equity, debt or other financing. Primaris is subject to the risks associated with debt financing,
including the risk that the mortgages and banking facilities secured by Primaris’ properties will not be
able to be re-financed or that the terms of such re-financing will not be as favourable as the terms of
existing indebtedness.

Primaris has stated that one of its objectives is to grow through acquisitions. While Primaris has financial
resources on hand to complete some acquisitions, the longer-term ability of Primaris to fund acquisitions
is dependent on both equity and debt capital markets. There are risks that, from time to time, equity
capital may not be available or may not be available on favourable terms®.

Interest Rate Fluctuations

From time to time, Primaris’ financing includes indebtedness with interest payments based on variable
lending rates that will result in fluctuations in Primaris’ cost of borrowing. Changes in interest rates may
also affect Primaris in many other ways, due to factors including the impact on the economy, the value of
real estate, the value of Primaris’ units, the economics of acquisition activity and the availability of capital.

Reliance on Key Personnel

The management of Primaris depends on the services of certain key personnel. The loss of the services
of any key personnel could have an adverse effect on Primaris.

Tax-Related Risks

Legislation (the “SIFT Rules”) relating to the federal income taxation of publicly listed or traded trusts
(such as income trusts and Real Estate Investment Trusts) and partnerships change the manner in
which certain flow-through entities and the distributions from such entities are taxed. Under the SIFT
Rules, certain publicly listed or traded flow-through trusts and partnerships referred to as “specified
investment flow-through” or “SIFT” trusts and partnerships will be taxed in a manner similar to the
taxation of corporations, and investors in SIFTs will be taxed in a manner similar to shareholders

of a corporation. Amendments to the SIFT Rules were enacted on March 12, 2009.

The new taxation regime introduced by the SIFT Rules is not applicable to funds that qualify for the
exception under the SIFT Rules applicable to certain Real Estate Investment Trusts (the “REIT Exception”).
The stated intention of the Minister of Finance (Canada) in introducing the REIT Exception is to exempt
certain Real Estate Investment Trusts from taxation as SIFTs in recognition of “the unique history and role
of collective real estate investment vehicles.” If Primaris fails to qualify for the REIT Exception, Primaris
will be subject to certain tax consequences including taxation of Primaris in a manner similar to
corporations and taxation of certain distributions in a manner similar to taxable dividends from

a taxable Canadian corporation.

5 These comments are based on various assumptions and are subject to various risks. See Forward-Looking Information on page 1.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

The SIFT Rules generally do not apply to a fund that was publicly listed before November 1, 2006 (an
“Existing Fund”), until the 2011 taxation year of the fund, subject to acceleration in certain circumstances
where the “normal growth” of the fund exceeds certain permitted limits (the “Undue Expansion Rules”).
There can be no assurance that any additions to the capital or assets of Primaris will not, alone or in
combination with each other, constitute an “undue expansion” under the Undue Expansion Rules. The
Undue Expansion Rules would only be relevant to Primaris if it has not at all times since October 31, 2006,
qualified for the REIT Exception.

To qualify for the REIT Exception in a particular taxation year (i) the Real Estate Investment Trust must, at
no time in the taxation year, hold “non-portfolio property” other than “qualified REIT properties”; (ii) not less
than 95% of the Real Estate Investment Trust’'s revenues for the taxation year must be derived from one

or more of the following: (a) rent from “real or immovable properties,” (b) interest, (c) capital gains from
dispositions of real or immovable properties, (d) dividends, and (e) royalties; (iii) not less than 75% of

the Real Estate Investment Trust’s revenues for the taxation year must be derived from one or more of the
following: (a) rent from “real or immovable properties,” (b) interest from mortgages, or hypothecs, on real
or immovable property, and (c) capital gains from dispositions of real or immovable properties; and (iv)

at no time in the taxation year may the total fair market value of all properties held by the Real Estate
Investment Trust, each of which is a real or immovable property, indebtedness of a Canadian corporation
represented by bankers’ acceptance, money, a deposit with a credit union, or, generally, a debt obligation
of a government in Canada or certain other public bodies, be less than 75% of the equity value of the Real
Estate Investment Trust at that time.

As mentioned above, the SIFT Rules will apply to an Existing Fund (other than a Real Estate Investment
Trust that qualifies for the REIT Exception) commencing with taxation years ending in or after 2011 or
earlier if there is “undue expansion” under the Undue Expansion Rules. Accordingly, unless the REIT
Exception is applicable to Primaris, the SIFT Rules could, commencing in 2011 or earlier if there is
“undue expansion” under the Undue Expansion Rules, impact the level of cash distributions which
would otherwise be made by Primaris and the taxation of such distributions to Unitholders.

The REIT Exception is applied on an annual basis. Even with the recent amendments to the SIFT
legislation, there remain certain issues with Primaris’ ability to qualify for the REIT Exception. Management
of Primaris intends to review alternative measures that may be available in order to qualify for the REIT
Exception. These measures include certain internal restructuring of assets held by certain entities owned
by Primaris and certain securities issued by such entities. Any such restructuring will be undertaken

only if it is in the best interests of Primaris’ Unitholders. Based on Primaris’ interpretation of the REIT
Exception®, management expects to be able to undertake restructurings so that Primaris should

qualify for the REIT Exception. No assurance can be given that Primaris will qualify for the

REIT Exception.

8 These comments are based on various assumptions and are subject to various risks. See Forward-Looking Information on page 1.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis

CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Primaris’ management, with participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, is
responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over
financial reporting as defined in the Canadian Securities Administrators’ National Instrument 52-109.

There were no changes in internal control over financial reporting during the first quarter of 2010 that
have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect Primaris’ internal control over
financial reporting.

Primaris’ management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect
its disclosure controls and procedures or internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all
misstatements due to error or fraud. Due to the inherent limitations in all control systems, an evaluation of
controls and their design provides only reasonable and not absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud or error have been detected. Primaris is continually evolving and enhancing its systems
of controls and procedures.

OUTLOOK

Many economic indicators suggest a general improvement in the business environment. Management
of Primaris has a cautiously optimistic view of the short term opportunities for Primaris. Occupancy rates
remain solid, and Primaris continues to achieve rent increases on average when renewing leases. The
recent decline in tenant sales appears to have troughed during the quarter but management will need

a few months of positive data to confirm a change in this trendline. A return to normal higher rent growth
will lag a general economic recovery.

There appears to be a consensus that interest rates will increase during coming quarters. Since inception
Primaris has favoured long term fixed rate debt and Primaris has little debt maturing in the near term.
Therefore, higher rates would not directly affect Primaris’ income statement or cash flows immediately.
However, the impact of higher rates could be quickly felt by tenants and their customers, the Canadian
consumer’.

Management is pleased by Primaris’ improved financial results and the decrease in its payout ratio.
This was expected as the past elevated payout ratio related in large part to the expensing of one-time
transition costs as well as the earnings drag in 2009 that resulted from holding large cash balances.
These issues are largely behind Primaris and management therefore expects the payout ratio to remain
at these lower levels’.

Capital markets have been much more favourable in recent months with both the availability and cost of
capital to the real property industry continuing to improve during the first quarter of this year. Indications
suggest that this improved environment should continue’.

7 These comments are based on various assumptions and are subject to various risks. See Forward-Looking information on page 1.
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Interim Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands of dollars)

March 31, December 31,
2010 2009
(Unaudited)
Assets
Income-producing properties (note 2) $ 1,746,766 $ 1,763,426
Leasing costs (note 3) 40,659 41,209
Rents receivable (note 4) 5,700 4,907
Other assets and receivables (note 5) 32,612 31,023
Cash and cash equivalents 2,999 15,452

$ 1,828,736 $ 1,856,017

Liabilities and Unitholders’ Equity

Liabilities:
Mortgages payable (note 7) $ 1,084,644 $ 1,089,966
Convertible debentures (note 8) 166,979 166,461
Bank indebtedness (note 9) 16,500 15,000
Accounts payable and other liabilities (note 10) 53,206 63,815
Distribution payable 6,370 6,358
Future income taxes (note 16) 43,400 43,000
1,371,099 1,384,600
Unitholders’ equity 457,637 471,417

Commitments and contingencies (note 20)

$ 1,828,736 $ 1,856,017

See accompanying notes to interim consolidated financial statements.
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Interim Consolidated Statements of Income

(in thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts)

2010 2009
Revenue:
Minimum rent $ 47,601 40,568
Recoveries from tenants 28,536 25,311
Percentage rent 412 724
Parking 1,468 1,528
Interest and other 379 887
78,396 69,018
Expenses:
Property operating 20,156 17,839
Property taxes 14,070 12,562
Depreciation 17,576 17,047
Amortization 1,683 1,503
Interest (note 13) 19,273 14,625
Ground rent 312 300
General and administrative 2,080 2,118
75,150 65,994
Income before gain on sale of land and income taxes 3,246 3,024
Gain on sale of land 74 -
Income before income taxes 3,320 3,024
Future income taxes (note 16) 400 2,500
Net income $ 2,920 524
Basic and diluted net income per unit (note 11(d)) $ 0.047 0.008
Interim Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands of dollars)
Three months ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 (Unaudited) 2010 2009
Net income $ 2,920 524
Amortization of deferred net loss on cash flow hedges 60 62
Comprehensive income $ 2,980 586

See accompanying notes to interim consolidated financial statements.
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Interim Consolidated Statements of Unitholders’ Equity

(in thousands of dollars)

Equity Accumulated
Amount component other
of units Contributed Net of convertible comprehensive
2010 issued surplus income  Distributions debentures  income (loss) Total
Unitholders’ equity, beginning of period $ 775,827 $ 618 $ 49,849 $(367,938) $ 15,241 $§ (2,180) $ 471,417
Net income - - 2,920 - - - 2,920
Distributions - - - (19,099) - - (19,099)
Amortization of deferred loss on
cash flow hedges - - - - - 60 60
Equity incentive plan (note 11(e)) 736 623 - - - - 1,359
Issuance of units under distribution
reinvestment plan 639 - - - - - 639
Conversion of convertible debentures
to units, net of costs 350 - - - 9) - 341
Unitholders’ equity, end of period $ 777,552 $ 1,241 $ 52,769 $(387,037) $ 15,232 $ (2,120) $ 457,637
Equity  Accumulated
Amount component other
of units Contributed Net of convertible comprehensive
2009 issued surplus income  Distributions debentures  income (loss) Total
Unitholders’ equity, beginning of period $ 772,686 $ - $ 43,183 $ (291,756) $ 8530 $ (2,423) $ 530,220
Net income - - 524 - - - 524
Distributions - - - (19,016) - - (19,016)
Amortization of deferred loss on
cash flow hedges - - - - - 62 62
Equity incentive plan (note 11(e)) - 14 - - - - 14
Issuance of units under distribution
reinvestment plan 717 = = = = - 717
Issuance of units under asset
management agreement 57 - - - - - 57
Purchase of convertible debentures
under normal course issuer bid - 255 - - (266) - (11)
Unitholders’ equity, end of period $ 773,460 $ 269 $ 43,707 $ (310,772) $ 8264 $ (2,361) $ 512,567

See accompanying notes to interim consolidated financial statements.
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Interim Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands of dollars)

Three months ended March 31, 2010 and 2009 (Unaudited) 2010 2009
Cash provided by (used in):
Operations:
Net income 2920 3 524
Items not involving cash:
Depreciation of income-producing properties 16,072 16,172
Amortization of recoverable improvements 999 827
Amortization of leasing commissions and tenant improvements 1,683 1,503
Accretion of convertible debentures 539 269
Future income taxes 400 2,500
Gain on sale of land (74) _
22,539 21,795
Change in non-cash operating items:
Gain on purchase of convertible debentures under normal course issuer bid - (467)
Depreciation of fixtures and equipment 505 48
Amortization of above- and below-market leases (571) (621)
Amortization of tenant inducements 37 36
Amortization of financing costs 641 403
Other (note 14) (11,919) (9,632)
Leasing commissions (133) (220)
Tenant inducements = (G
11,099 11,289
Financing:
Mortgage principal repayments (5,280) (4,555)
Bank indebtedness 1,500 -
Distributions to Unitholders (19,087) (19,009)
Issuance of units, net of costs 853 717
Purchase of convertible debentures under normal course issuer bid - (2,288)
(22,014) (25,135)
Investments:
Additions to tenant improvements (1,037) (1,493)
Additions to buildings and building improvements (334) (1,821)
Additions to recoverable improvements (91) (68)
Additions to fixtures and equipment (164) -
Proceeds on sale of land 88 -
(1,538) (3,382)
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents (12,453) (17,228)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 15,452 97,424
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period 2,999 $ 80,196
Supplemental cash flow information:
Interest paid 22270 $ 14,598
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash operating, financing and investing activities:
Value of units issued under asset management agreement - 57
Value of units issued under equity incentive plan 1,359 14
Value of units issued from conversion of convertible debentures 358 -
Financing costs transferred to equity upon conversion of convertible debentures (16) -
Accumulated amortization of financing costs transferred to equity
upon conversion of convertible debentures 8 -

See accompanying notes to interim consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements

Three months ended March 31, 2010 and 2009
(Unaudited)

Primaris Retail Real Estate Investment Trust (“Primaris”) is an unincorporated open-ended
real estate investment trust created pursuant to the Declaration of Trust dated March 28,
2003 as amended and restated.

(a)

(b)

(c)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:

Basis of presentation:

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally
accepted accounting principles (“Canadian GAAP”). The consolidated financial statements include
the accounts of Primaris and its wholly owned subsidiaries.

Future accounting changes:
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”):

The Canadian Accounting Standards Board confirmed in February 2008 plans to converge Canadian
GAAP with IFRS for interim and annual reporting periods commencing January 1, 2011. Primaris’ first
annual IFRS consolidated financial statements will be for the year ended December 31, 2011, and will
include the comparative period from the year ended December 31, 2010. Starting with the first quarter
of 2011, Primaris will provide unaudited consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS,
including comparative figures for 2010.

Income-producing properties:

Income-producing properties include land, buildings and building improvements, in-place leasing
costs and recoverable improvements.

Income-producing properties are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization.

If events or circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an income-producing property may be
impaired, a recoverability analysis is performed based upon estimated undiscounted cash flows to be
generated from the income-producing property. If the analysis indicates that the carrying value is not
recoverable from future cash flows, the income-producing property is written down to estimated fair
value and an impairment loss is recognized.

Buildings under development, when applicable, consist mainly of costs incurred for redevelopment or
expansion of properties. Costs capitalized include construction costs, development fees and interest
costs. Net operating income of a development project is capitalized to the property until it is
substantially complete.

Depreciation of buildings is determined on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, but not exceeding 40 years, from the time of acquisition.

Building improvements and recoverable improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the term of their estimated useful lives of up to 10 years.
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(d)

(e)

(")

(9)

(h)

(i)

Leasing costs:

Leasing commissions are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the related lease.

Payments to tenants under lease obligations are characterized either as tenant improvements

owned by the landlord or as tenant inducements. When the obligation is determined to be a tenant
improvement owned by Primaris, Primaris is considered to have acquired an asset. If Primaris
determines that for accounting purposes it is not the owner of the tenant improvements, then the
obligations under the lease are treated as tenant inducements. Tenant improvements and tenant
inducements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The amortization of
tenant improvements is recorded as amortization expense and the amortization of tenant inducements
is treated as a reduction of revenue.

Intangible assets and liabilities:

Acquired intangible assets and liabilities are initially recognized and measured at cost. The cost of
the intangible assets is allocated to the individual assets acquired based on management estimates.

Intangible assets and liabilities are amortized using the straight-line method over the term and
non-cancellable renewal periods of the related underlying lease, where applicable. Amortization of
in-place leasing costs is classified as depreciation expense. Amortization of above- and below-market
leases is classified as minimum rent.

Intangible assets and liabilities are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Any impairment loss
recognized is recorded to the related amortization accounts.

Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash and cash equivalents include cash and short-term investments, such as bankers’ acceptances
and treasury bills, with initial maturity dates of less than 90 days.

Fixtures and equipment:

Fixtures and equipment, including leasehold improvements, computer hardware and software, are
recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation expense is recorded on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of each asset.

Financing costs:

Financing costs are presented with the related debt and amortized using the effective interest rate
over the anticipated life of the related debit.

Revenue recognition:

Revenue from income-producing properties includes rent earned from tenants under lease
agreements, percentage rent, property tax and operating cost recoveries and other incidental
income, and is recognized as revenue over the term of the underlying leases. All predetermined
rent adjustments in lease agreements are accounted for on a straight-line basis over the term of
the respective leases. Percentage rent is not recognized until a tenant’s actual sales reach the
sales threshold as set out in the tenant’s lease.
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1. Significant accounting policies (cont'd)

(i)

(k)

(1)

Unit-based compensation:

Primaris uses the fair value based method of accounting for its equity awards, under which
compensation expense is measured at the grant date and recognized over the vesting period.
Unit-based compensation is classified as equity unless the holder of the award has the option
to settle in cash, in which case the award is classified as a liability.

Financial instruments:

Financial instruments are classified as one of the following: (i) held-to-maturity, (ii) loans and
receivables, (iii) held-for-trading, (iv) available-for-sale, or (v) other liabilities. Financial assets and
liabilities classified as held-for-trading are measured at fair value with gains and losses recognized in
the consolidated statements of income. Financial instruments classified as held-to-maturity, loans and
receivables or other liabilities are measured at amortized cost. Available-for-sale financial instruments
are measured at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses recognized in the consolidated
statements of comprehensive income.

Primaris designated its cash and cash equivalents as held-for-trading; rents receivable, loan payment
subsidy and other receivables as loans and receivables; and mortgages payable, convertible
debentures, bank indebtedness, accounts payable and other liabilities and distribution payable

as other liabilities. Primaris has neither available-for-sale nor held-to-maturity instruments.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issuance of financial assets or
liabilities are accounted for as part of the respective asset’s or liability’s carrying value at inception.

All derivative instruments, including embedded derivatives, are recorded in the consolidated
statements of income at fair value, except for embedded derivatives exempted from
derivative treatment.

Hedging:

Primaris formally documents relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well
as its risk management objectives and strategies for undertaking hedge transactions. This includes
linking instruments to specific assets and liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets or to specific
firm commitments or anticipated transactions.

The instruments that are used in hedging transactions are formally assessed both at the inception
of a transaction and on an ongoing basis as to whether the instruments that are used in hedging
transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values of hedged items.

In a fair value hedge, the change in fair value of the hedging derivative is offset in the consolidated
statements of income against the change in the fair value of the hedged item relating to the hedged
risk. In a cash flow hedge, the change in fair value of the derivative, to the extent effective, is
recorded in other comprehensive income until the asset or liability being hedged affects the
consolidated statements of income, at which time, the related change in fair value of the derivative
is recorded in the consolidated statements of income. Any hedge ineffectiveness is recorded in the
consolidated statements of income.
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(m) Income taxes:

Primaris uses the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Future income taxes are
recognized for the temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted or substantively enacted tax rates and laws that are expected to apply to taxable
income in the periods in which those temporary differences are expected to be reversed or settled.
The effect on future income tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rate is recognized in income
in the period that includes the date of enactment or substantive enactment (note 16).

(n) Use of estimates:

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during

the periods. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant areas of estimation include:
allocation of purchase price on property acquisitions, recovery revenue accruals, fair value of
mortgages and debentures payable, future income tax timing reversals and useful lives used

to calculate depreciation and amortization.

2. INCOME-PRODUCING PROPERTIES:

Accumulated
depreciation

and Net book
March 31, 2010 (Unaudited) Cost amortization value
Land $ 370,915 $ - $ 370,915
Buildings 1,376,868 141,493 1,235,375
Building improvements 46,601 16,329 30,272
In-place leasing costs 160,211 70,613 89,598
Recoverable improvements 31,256 10,650 20,606

$ 1,985,851 $ 239,085 $ 1,746,766

Accumulated
depreciation

and Net book
December 31, 2009 Cost amortization value
Land $ 370,891 % - $ 370,891
Buildings 1,376,717 132,583 1,244,134
Building improvements 46,456 15,233 31,223
In-place leasing costs 160,700 65,036 95,664
Recoverable improvements 32,487 10,973 21,514

$ 1,987,251 $§ 223825 $ 1,763,426

The income-producing properties have been pledged as security for Primaris’ mortgages payable and
bank indebtedness. In addition, Primaris’ interest in one property remains pledged as security for $23,775
of obligations of its joint venture partner which mature no later than March 31, 2013. Primaris has been
indemnified and has implemented appropriate additional protective measures to minimize the risk of

any loss.
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3. LEASING COSTS:

Accumulated Net book
March 31, 2010 (Unaudited) Cost amortization value
Leasing commissions $ 6,507 $ 2,233 $ 4,274
Tenant improvements 49,108 14,062 35,046
Tenant inducements 1,776 437 1,339
$ 57,391 $ 16,732 $ 40,659
Accumulated Net book
December 31, 2009 Cost amortization value
Leasing commissions $ 6,556 $ 2,155  $ 4,401
Tenant improvements 48,299 12,867 35,432
Tenant inducements 1,776 400 1,376
$ 56,631 §$ 15,422  $ 41,209
4. RENTS RECEIVABLE:
March 31, December 31,
2010 2009
(Unaudited)
Rents receivable, net of allowance of $1,177 (December 31, 2009 - $1,168) $ 1,870 $ 1,772
Accrued recovery revenue 2,125 733
Accrued percentage rent 744 1,092
Other amounts receivable 961 1,310
$ 5,700 $ 4,907
5. OTHER ASSETS AND RECEIVABLES:
March 31, December 31,
2010 2009
(Unaudited)
Loan payment subsidy $ - 3 1,360
Straight-line rents 9,643 9,073
Above-market rent leases, net of accumulated
amortization of $5,666 (December 31, 2009 - $5,560) 1,243 1,349
Prepaid realty taxes 4,527 1,303
Prepaid ground rent 5,714 5,875
Fixtures and equipment, net of accumulated
depreciation of $1,192 (December 31, 2009 — $687) 5,922 6,263
Other assets 5,563 5,800
$ 32,612 $ 31,023
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6. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES:

The following intangible assets and liabilities have been included in these consolidated financial
statements as indicated below:

Net book value Amortization expense
March 31, December 31, March 31, March 31,
2010 2009 2010 2009
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
In-place leasing costs (note 2) $ 89,598 $ 95,664 $ 6,066 $ 7,992
Above-market rent leases (note 5) 1,243 1,349 106 161
Below-market rent leases (note 10) (9,321) (9,998) (677) (782)

7. MORTGAGES PAYABLE:

Mortgages payable are secured by income-producing properties and, in many cases, by corporate
guarantees and bear interest at fixed rates ranging between 4.75% and 7.45% (December 31, 2009 —
4.75% and 7.45%). The weighted average interest rate for the mortgages payable, excluding the financing
costs, is 5.66% (December 31, 2009 — 5.66%). Mortgages payable mature at various dates between 2010
and 2022.

March 31, December 31,
2010 2009
(Unaudited)
Mortgages payable $ 1,084,740 $ 1,090,020
Mark-to-market adjustment 4,763 5,126
Financing costs, net of accumulated amortization
of $2,677 (December 31, 2009 - $2,691) (4,859) (5,180)

$ 1,084,644 $ 1,089,966

Future principal payments on the mortgages payable are as follows:

Payments on Total annual

maturity payments Total
2010 remainder $ 3,709 $ 16,930 $ 20,639
2011 36,828 23,215 60,043
2012 21,226 24,696 45,922
2013 213,917 22,761 236,678
2014 97,251 20,763 118,014
Thereafter 528,503 74,941 603,444

$ 901,434 §$ 183,306 $ 1,084,740
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8. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES:

December 31,

March 31, 2010 2009

6.75% 5.85% 6.30%

convertible convertible convertible
debentures debentures debentures Total Total

(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

Principal balance, beginning of period $ 5,751 $ 93,476 $ 86,250 $ 185,477 $ 106,058
Issued - - - - 86,250
Conversions (358) - - (358) (353)
Repurchases - - - - (6,478)
Principal balance, end of period $ 5393 $ 93,476 $ 86,250 $ 185,119 $ 185477
Debt component $ 5,334 $ 88,036 $ 79,144 $ 172,514 $ 172,324
Less financing costs (223) (3,623) (3,463) (7,309) (7,325)
Accumulated amortization 126 1,369 279 1,774 1,462
$ 5237 $ 85,782 $ 75960 $ 166,979 $ 166,461

The full terms of the convertible debentures are contained in the public offering documents and the

following table summarizes some of the terms:

Debenture March 31, 2010 Interest Conversion Redemption
series principal balance Maturity rate price date after
6.75% $ 5,393 June 30, 2014 6.75% $ 12.25 June 30, 2010
5.85% 93,476 August 1, 2014 5.85% 22.55 August 1, 2012
6.30% 86,250 September 30, 2015 6.30% 16.70 October 1, 2014

In certain circumstances, redemption of the convertible debentures may occur sooner than the

redemption date.

(a) 6.75% convertible debentures:

During the period, holders of $358 (March 31, 2009 - nil) of convertible debentures at face value
exercised their option to convert to units. Of the $358, $9 was recorded as a reduction of the
original equity component and $349 was recorded as a reduction of the debt component. This
ratio is consistent with the original equity and debt ratio. A total of 29,222 units were issued on
conversion. As at March 31, 2010, the face value of this series of debentures outstanding was

$5,393 (December 31, 2009 - $5,751).

5.85% convertible debentures:

(b)

During the period, nil (March 31, 2009 — $3,051) of convertible debentures were repurchased under
Primaris’ normal course issuer bid. Of the $3,051 repurchased in 2009, $266 was recorded as a
reduction of the original equity component and $2,785 was recorded as a reduction of the debt
component. As at March 31, 2010, the face value of this series of debentures outstanding was

$93,476 (December 31, 2009 — $93,476).

6.30% convertible debentures:

(c)

On October 6, 2009, Primaris issued $86,250 of 6.30% convertible debentures at terms similar to past
issuances. As at March 31, 2010, the face value of this series of debentures outstanding remained at
$86,250. Of the $86,250 issued, $7,622 was recorded to equity and $78,628 was recorded to debt.
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9. BANK INDEBTEDNESS:

Primaris has an operating line of $120,000 that expires on July 31, 2010. The operating line is secured by
fixed charges on certain income-producing properties and a corporate guarantee. Draws on the operating
line are subject to certain conditions; interest is at prime plus applicable premiums or, at the option of
Primaris, at bankers’ acceptance rates, plus applicable premiums. As at March 31, 2010, $16,500 has
been drawn on the operating line (December 31, 2009 — $15,000).

10. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND OTHER LIABILITIES:

March 31, December 31,
2010 2009

(Unaudited)
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities $ 40,691 $ 50,239
Tenant deposits 2,671 2,957
Deferred revenue 523 621

Below-market rent leases, net of accumulated

amortization of $11,649 (December 31, 2009 - $10,972) 9,321 9,998

$ 53,206 $ 63,815

11. UNITHOLDERS’ EQUITY:

Primaris is authorized to issue an unlimited number of units. Each unit represents a single vote at any
meeting of Unitholders and entitles the Unitholder to receive a pro rata share of all distributions. The
Unitholders have the right to require Primaris to redeem their units on demand. Upon receipt of the
redemption notice by Primaris, all rights to and under the units tendered for redemption shall be
surrendered and the holder thereof shall be entitled to receive a price per unit (“Redemption Price”),

as determined by a market formula. The Redemption Price will be paid in accordance with the conditions
provided for in the Declaration of Trust.

Primaris’ Unitholders’ Equity is represented by two categories of equity: trust units of Primaris and
exchangeable units of subsidiaries of Primaris. As at March 31, 2010, there were 2,267,261 exchangeable
units issued and outstanding by subsidiaries of Primaris with a stated value of $33,523 (December 31,
2009 - 2,307,261 units with a stated value of $34,084). These exchangeable units are economically
equivalent to trust units and are entitled only to receive distributions equal to those provided to holders

of trust units. As a result, the Unitholders’ Equity includes the issued and outstanding units of Primaris
and the exchangeable units of subsidiaries of Primaris.

Primaris’ Trustees have discretion in declaring distributions (note 17).

(a) Units outstanding:

March 31, 2010 March 31, 2009
Units Amount Units Amount
(Unaudited)
Balance, beginning of period 62,534,594 $ 775,827 62,269,712 $ 772,686
Issuance of units under the distribution reinvestment plan 38,697 639 73,015 717
Other (note 19(a)) - - 5,681 57
Conversion of convertable debentures (note 8) 29,222 350 - -
Units issued under equity compensation arrangement 48,993 736 = =
Balance, end of period 62,651,506 $ 777,552 62,348,408 $ 773,460
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11. Unitholders’ equity (cont'd)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Distribution reinvestment plan:

Primaris has a distribution reinvestment plan that allows Unitholders to use the monthly cash
distributions paid on their existing units to purchase additional units directly from Primaris. Unitholders
who elect to participate in the distribution reinvestment plan will receive a further distribution, payable
in units, equal in value to 3% of each cash distribution.

Normal course issuer bid:

During the period ended March 31, 2009, pursuant to the issuer bid initiated in November 2008,
which expired on November 30, 2009, Primaris repurchased convertible debentures with a face
value of $3,051 for consideration of $2,316 during the period. No units were repurchased in 2009.

In December 2009, Primaris renewed its normal course issuer bid (note 17); however, no convertible
debentures or units were repurchased during the period ended March 31, 2010.

Per unit calculations:

Per unit information is calculated based on the weighted average number of units outstanding
(including the exchangeable units) for the three months ended March 31, 2010 of 62,571,367 units
(March 31, 2009 - 62,306,961). The weighted average number of diluted units for the three months
ended March 31, 2010 is 72,417,515 units (March 31, 2009 — 67,230,327). The convertible debentures
and the options granted but not yet exercised have been excluded from the calculation of diluted net
income per unit, as they are currently anti-dilutive to net income; therefore, diluted net income per unit
is the same as basic net income per unit.

Equity incentive plan:

In order to provide long-term compensation to certain officers, employees and Trustees of Primaris
and certain designated service providers to Primaris, there may be grants of restricted units or options,
which are subject to certain restrictions. Under Primaris’ equity incentive plan, the maximum number
of total units available for grant is limited to 7% of the then issued and outstanding units at any

given time.

On January 1, 2010, 11,208 restricted share units were granted to Primaris Trustees. The units vest at
the earlier of two events: (i) four years from the grant date; and (ii) Trustee departure. As the Trustees
can control when the restricted share units vest, they were considered fully vested when issued. Upon
exchange of the restricted share units, the Trustees have the option to settle in cash instead of units
issued from treasury. The restricted share units accrue distributions in the form of additional grants of
restricted share units with all the same terms. These restricted share units are classified as a liability,
which will be indexed to changes in fair value of Primaris units.
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An award valued at $1,000 was made to the President and Chief Executive Officer of Primaris in order
to compensate him for lost deferred compensation at his previous employer. This expense was
recorded in general and administrative expenses for 2009. This award was made on February 26,
2010 with a supplement grant on March 19, 2010 to amend the options granted. On February 26,
2010, the award was delivered in a combination of 28,993 restricted units and 203,216 options to
purchase units of Primaris with an exercise price of $17.25 per unit. On March 19, 2010, an additional
3,878 options were granted with an exercise price of $17.17 per unit. The restricted units and all the
options are fully vested. All the options expire February 25, 2017 and the exercise prices were
calculated as the volume weighted average trading price during the five days preceding the grant.

On March 9, 2010, 36,357 restricted share units were granted to Primaris employees and will be
satisfied by units issued from treasury. The award was valued at $611. The restricted share units vest
on December 31, 2013. The restricted share units are subject to vesting conditions and are subject to
forfeiture until the employees have been employed by Primaris for a specified period of time. The
restricted share units accrue cash distributions during the vesting period and accrued distributions
will be paid when the restricted share units are exchanged for regular units.

On March 9, 2010, options to acquire 283,038 units were granted to employees of Primaris at an
option price of $16.81 per unit, which equals the volume weighted average trading price during the
five days preceding the grant. This award was valued at $611. The options expire December 31,
2016. The options vest at 25% per annum, with the first 25% vesting on December 31, 2010 and 25%
at the end of each of the following three years, becoming fully vested on December 31, 2013.

On January 1, 2009, 6,659 restricted share units were granted to an employee and will be satisfied
by units issued from treasury. This award was valued at $71. The restricted share units vest on
December 31, 2012. The restricted share units are subject to vesting conditions and are subject

to forfeiture until the employee has been employed by Primaris for a specified period of time. The
restricted share units accrue cash distributions during the vesting period and accrued distributions
will be paid when the restricted share units are exchanged for regular units.

On January 1, 2009, options to acquire 111,588 units were granted to an employee of Primaris at an
option price of $10.70 per unit. This award was valued at $71. The options expire December 31, 2015.
The exercise price of each option equals the closing market price of Primaris’ units on the day prior
to the grant. The options vest at 25% per annum commencing on the first anniversary of the grant,
becoming fully vested after four years.

On August 13, 2009, options to acquire 90,000 units were granted to the Chief Financial Officer in
conjunction with promoting him to the position of Executive Vice President; the award was valued
at $125. The options have an exercise price of $14.06 per unit, which equals the volume weighted
average trading price of the units during the five days preceding the grant. These options expire
August 12, 2016. The options vest at 25% per annum commencing on the first anniversary of the
grant, becoming fully vested after four years.
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11. Unitholders’ equity (cont'd)

Primaris accounts for its unit-based compensation using the fair value method, under which
compensation expense is measured at the grant date and recognized over the vesting period.
Unit-based compensation expense and assumptions used in the calculation thereof using the

Black-Scholes model for option valuation are as follows:

March 31, December 31,
2010 2009

(Unaudited)
Unit-based compensation expense $ 350 $ 14
Unit options granted 490,132 111,588
Unit option holding period (years) 7 7
Volatility rate 22.0% 22.0%
Distribution yield 7.2% 11.4%
Risk free interest rate 3.1% 21%

Weighted average fair value, per unit, at grant date:

Options $ 229 ¢ 0.64
Restricted share units 16.87 10.70

The movements in options during the three-months ended March 31, 2010 and year ended December 31,

2009 were:

Weighted

average

Number exercise
of options price Expiry date

Balance, December 31, 2008 - 3 -
Granted 201,588 12.20 December 31, 2015 to August 12, 2016
Balance, December 31, 2009 201,588 12.20 December 2015 to August 2016
Granted 490,132 17.50 December 2016 to February 2017
Exercised (20,000) 10.70 December 31, 2015
Balance, March 31, 2010 671,720 15.72 December 2015 to February 2017

Of the options issued, 214,991 were exercisable at March 31, 2010 (December 31, 2009 — nil).
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As at March 31, 2010, the following options were outstanding:

Remaining

weighted

Number average life

Excercise price of options (in months)
$10.70 91,588 70.0
$14.06 90,000 77.5
$16.81 283,038 82.2
$17.17 3,878 84.1
$17.25 203,216 84.1
$10.70 - $17.25 671,720 80.5

12. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE:

During 2009, Primaris entered into an agreement to establish a joint venture, of which Primaris has a 50%
interest. The joint venture became effective on December 17, 2009 with contributions of cash and fixed
assets by the venturers which were recorded at their fair values.

The consolidated financial statements include Primaris’ proportionate share of the assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses of the joint venture.

March 31, December 31,
2010 2009

(Unaudited)
Assets $ 110,154 $ 107,747
Liabilities 1,564 525

Three months ended
March 31,

2010 2009

(Unaudited)
Revenue $ 2919 $ -
Expenses 1,550 -

Cash provided by (used in):

Operations $ 2,547 $ -
Financing - _
Investing - —

In addition to the above, Primaris’ liabilities include a $63,000 (December 31, 2009 — $63,000) mortgage
secured by its interest in the joint venture. Primaris’ interest in the joint venture has also been pledged as
security for $23,775 (December 31, 2009 - $24,336) of obligations of its joint venture partner. The joint
venture partner is the manager of the property.
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13. INTEREST EXPENSE:

March 31, March 31,
2010 2009

(Unaudited)
Mortgages payable $ 15,083 $ 12,232
Amortization of net deferred loss on cash flow hedges 60 62
Convertible debentures 3,317 1,809
Bank indebtedness 293 119
Amortization of financing costs 520 403

$ 19,273 $ 14,625

14. CHANGE IN OTHER NON-CASH OPERATING ITEMS:

March 31, March 31,
2010 2009
(Unaudited)
Rents receivable $ (793) $ (433)
Other assets and receivables, excluding
above-market leases and fixtures and equipment (2,036) (8,775)
Accounts payable and other liabilities,
excluding below-market leases (8,727) (5,052)
Mortgage premium (363) (372)

$ (11,919 $ (9,632)

15. SEGMENT DISCLOSURE:

Substantially all of Primaris’ assets are in and its revenue is derived from the Canadian real estate industry
segment. No single tenant accounts for more than 6.5% (December 31, 2009 — 6.5%) of Primaris’
minimum rent.

16. INCOME TAXES:

Primaris currently qualifies as a Mutual Fund Trust for Canadian income tax purposes. Prior to new
legislation relating to the federal income taxation of publicly listed or traded trusts, as discussed below,
income earned by Primaris and distributed annually to Unitholders was not, and would not be, subject

to taxation in Primaris, but was taxed at the individual Unitholder level. For financial statement reporting
purposes, the tax deductibility of Primaris’ distributions was treated as an exemption from taxation as
Primaris distributed and was committed to continue distributing all of its taxable income to its Unitholders.
Accordingly, prior to the new legislation, Primaris did not record a provision for income taxes, or future
income tax assets or liabilities, in respect of Primaris or its wholly owned subsidiary trust.

V 42 Primaris First Quarter Report 2010



Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements

On June 22, 2007, legislation relating to the federal income taxation of a “specified investment flow-
through” trust or partnership (a “SIFT”) received Royal Assent (the “SIFT Rules”). A SIFT includes a
publicly listed or traded trust, such as an income trust and a real estate investment trust. Primaris is
a SIFT, as discussed below.

Under the SIFT Rules, following a transition period for qualifying SIFTs, certain distributions from a SIFT will
no longer be deductible in computing a SIFT’s taxable income, and a SIFT will be subject to tax on such
distributions at a rate that is substantially equivalent to the general tax rate applicable to a Canadian
corporation. Distributions paid by a SIFT as returns of capital will not be subject to tax.

A SIFT that was publicly listed before November 1, 2006 (an “Existing Trust”), will become subject to

tax on certain distributions commencing with the 2011 taxation year end. However, an Existing Trust may
become subject to tax prior to the 2011 taxation year end if its equity capital increases beyond certain
limits measured against the market capitalization of the Existing Trust at the close of trading on

October 31, 2006. As at March 31, 2010, Primaris had not exceeded this limit.

Under the SIFT Rules, the new taxation regime will not apply to a trust that meets prescribed conditions
relating to the nature of its income and investments (the “REIT Conditions”). As currently structured,
Primaris does not meet the REIT Conditions and, therefore, is a SIFT. Accordingly, Primaris intends

to restructure to meet the REIT Conditions prior to 2011.

Due to the SIFT Rules, Primaris commenced recognizing future income tax assets and liabilities on June 22,
2007 with respect to the temporary differences between the carrying amounts and tax bases of its assets
and liabilities, and those of its subsidiary trust, that are expected to reverse in or after 2011. Future income
tax assets or liabilities are recorded using substantively enacted tax rates and laws expected to apply when
the temporary differences are expected to reverse.

Temporary differences expected to reverse in years 2011, 2012 and 2013 have been measured using tax
rates of 28.25%, 26.25% and 25.50%, respectively. Temporary differences expected to reverse in or after
2014 have been measured using a tax rate of 25.00%. Between December 31, 2009 and March 31, 2010,
Primaris recorded a non-cash future income tax expense of $400 (March 31, 2009 — $2,500). The future
income tax expense is primarily a result of a change in the future tax rates and certain costs deducted for
tax purposes.

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the future income tax
liability are as follows:

March 31, March 31,
2010 2009

(Unaudited)

Future income tax liabilities:

Income-producing properties $ 31,000 $ 31,000
Leasing costs 9,000 9,000
Other assets and receivables 3,100 2,700
Other 300 300
Future income taxes $ 43,400 $ 43,000

No provision for current income taxes is required at March 31, 2010 since Primaris expects to distribute all
of its taxable income to its Unitholders.
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17. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT:

Primaris manages its capital structure in order to support ongoing property operations, developments

and acquisitions, as well as to generate stable and growing cash distributions to Unitholders — one of
Primaris’ primary objectives. Primaris defines its capital structure to include: mortgages payable, bank
indebtedness, acquisition facilities, convertible debentures and trust units. There were no changes to
Primaris’ approach to capital management during the three months ended March 31, 2010.

Primaris reviews its capital structure on an ongoing basis. Primaris adjusts its capital structure in response
to investment opportunities, the availability of capital and anticipated changes in economic conditions and
their impact on Primaris’ portfolio. Primaris also adjusts its capital structure for budgeted development
projects and distributions.

Primaris’ strategy is driven in part by external requirements from certain of its lenders and by policies as
set out under the Declaration of Trust. Primaris’ Declaration of Trust requires that Primaris:

e will not incur any new indebtedness on its properties in excess of 75% of the property’s market value;

e will not incur any indebtedness that would cause the Debt to Gross Book Value Ratio (as defined in
the Declaration of Trust) to exceed 60%; and

e will not incur floating rate indebtedness aggregating more than 15% of Gross Book Value.

In addition, Primaris is required by its lenders under the operating line to meet four financial covenants,

as defined in the agreement:
(a) a Debt to Gross Book Value Ratio of not more than 60%;
(b) an Interest Coverage Ratio of greater than 1.75;

(c) a Debt Service Coverage Ratio of greater than 1.5; and
(d) a minimum Unitholders’ Equity of $700,000.

Those amounts as at March 31, 2010 and December 31, 2009 were as follows:

March 31, December 31,
2010 2009 Change
(Unaudited)
Debt to Gross Book Value 53.5% 53.4% 0.1%
Interest Coverage (rolling four quarters) 2.3x 2.3 X -
Debt Service Coverage (rolling four quarters) 1.8x 1.8 x -
Unitholders’ Equity $ 740,122 $ 738242 § 1,880

For the three months ended March 31, 2010, Primaris met all externally imposed requirements.

Primaris’ mortgage lenders require security for their loans. The security can include: a mortgage,
assignment of the leases and rents receivable, corporate guarantees and assignment of
insurance policies.
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In December 2009, Primaris renewed its normal course issuer bid, which entitles Primaris to acquire up

to 3,000,000 units, $582 of the 6.75% convertible debentures, $9,347 of the 5.85% convertible debentures
and $8,625 of the 6.30% convertible debentures. Purchases under the bid were authorized to commence on
December 4, 2009 and must terminate on the earlier of: (i) December 4, 2010; (ii) the date on which Primaris
completes its purchases of units and convertible debentures; or (iii) the date of notice by Primaris of
termination of the bid. Purchases, if completed, will be made on the open market by Primaris. Securities
purchased under this bid will be cancelled. The price Primaris will pay for any such units or debentures

will be the market price at the time of acquisition. Primaris believes that the market price of its units or
debentures at certain times may be attractive and that purchases of units or debentures from time to

time would be an appropriate use of funds in light of potential benefits to Unitholders.

18. RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR VALUES:

(a) Risk management:

In the normal course of business, Primaris is exposed to a number of risks that can affect its operating
performance. These risks, and the actions taken to manage them, are as follows:

(i) Credit risk:

Credit risk arises from the possibility that tenants may experience financial difficulty and be
unable to pay the rents due under their lease commitments. Primaris attempts to mitigate the risk
of credit loss by ensuring that its tenant mix is diversified and by limiting its exposure to any one
tenant. Thorough credit assessments are conducted in respect of new leasing, and tenant
deposits are obtained when warranted.

Primaris’ exposure to credit risk is based on business risks associated with the retail sector of the
economy. Primaris measures this risk-by-tenant concentration across the portfolio. Primaris has
over 950 different tenants across the portfolio.

Primaris establishes an allowance for doubtful accounts that represents the estimated losses
with respect to rents receivable. The amounts that comprise the allowance are determined on
a tenant-by-tenant basis based on the specific factors related to the tenant.

Primaris places its cash investments with high-quality Canadian financial institutions.

(i) Liquidity risk:
Liquidity risk is the risk that Primaris will not have sufficient access to cash, lines of credit and
new debt and equity to fund its financial obligations as they fall due.

Primaris manages cash from operations and capital structure to ensure there are sufficient
resources to operate the income-producing properties, fund anticipated leasing, make capital and
development expenditures, meet its debt servicing obligations, fund general administrative costs,
and make Unitholder distributions. Primaris monitors compliance with debt covenants, estimating
lease renewals and property acquisitions and dispositions. Staggering loan maturity dates
mitigates Primaris’ exposure to large amounts maturing in any one year and the risk that lenders
will not refinance.
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18. Risk management and fair values (cont'd)

Primaris’ exposure to refinancing risk arises from maturing mortgages payable, convertible
debentures and the operating line. Maturing debt funding requirements are typically sourced
from new capital from external sources. The ability to obtain funding, or favourable funding,
depends on several factors including current economic climate and quality of the underlying

assets being refinanced.

A schedule of mortgage principal repayment obligations is provided in note 7. Maturities of the
convertible debentures which, under certain circumstances, may be repaid through the issuance
of units, are provided in note 8. It is Primaris’ intention to seek renewal of its $120,000 operating
line, on which $16,500 has been drawn on March 31, 2010, before it matures on July 31, 2010.

(iii) Market risk:

All of Primaris’ income-producing properties are focused on the Canadian retail sector. Market
risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates
and equity prices, will affect Primaris’ financial instruments. All of Primaris’ operations are
denominated in Canadian dollars, resulting in no direct foreign exchange risk. Primaris’ existing
debts are all at fixed interest rates with the exception of bank indebtedness (note 9). Primaris
staggers the maturities of its mortgages payable in order to minimize the exposure to future

interest rate fluctuation.

(b) Fair values:

The fair values of Primaris’ financial assets and financial liabilities, together with the carrying amounts

shown in the consolidated balance sheets, are as follows:

March 31, 2010

December 31, 2009

Carrying
amount

value

Carrying Fair
amount value

(Unaudited)

Mortgages payable

Convertible debentures 166,979

$ 1,084,644 $ 1,046,416
195,358

$ 1,089,966 $ 1,055,199
166,461 189,967

The following summarizes the significant methods and assumptions used in estimating fair values of

financial instruments reflected in the above table:

(iy Mortgages payable:

The fair value of Primaris’ mortgages payable is estimated based on the present value of future
payments, discounted at the yield on a Government of Canada bond with the nearest maturity
date to the underlying mortgage, plus an estimated credit spread at the reporting date for a

comparable mortgage.

(i) Convertible debentures:

The fair value of the convertible debentures is estimated based on the market trading prices of

the convertible debentures.

(iiiy Other financial assets and liabilities:

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, rents receivable, loan payment subsidy, bank
indebtedness, accounts payable and other liabilities and distribution payable approximate their

fair values due to their short-term nature.

V 46 Primaris First Quarter Report 2010



Notes to Interim Consolidated Financial Statements

19. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS:

(a) In prior years, Primaris contracted Oxford Properties Group to provide advisory, asset management,
development and administration services to Primaris. This contract expired December 31, 2009 and
was not extended.

March 31, March 31,
2010 2009

(Unaudited)
Asset management fees $ - 3 969
Development fees - 63
$ - 3 1,032

Asset management fees were included in general and administrative expenses and development fees
were capitalized to income-producing properties. Primaris also reimbursed the asset manager for $80
of general and administrative costs during the period ended March 31, 2009.

Of these fees, $1,073 was included in accounts payable and other liabilities at March 31, 2009.
During the period ended March 31, 2009, Primaris issued $57 of units in partial payment of asset
management fees.

(b) In prior years, Primaris contracted Oxford Properties Group to provide property management and
leasing services to Primaris. This contract expired December 31, 2009 and was not extended.

March 31, March 31,
2010 2009

(Unaudited)
Property management fees $ - $ 2,328
Leasing fees - 198
$ - ¢ 2,526

Property management fees were included in property operating expenses and leasing fees were
included in leasing costs.

Of these fees, $359 was included in accounts payable and other liabilities at March 31, 2009. Primaris
also reimbursed the property manager for certain property operating costs.

(c) Primaris had one loan payment subsidy at March 31, 2009, with Oxford Properties Group. The loan
payment subsidy was fully repaid in January 2010 (note 5).

March 31, March 31,
2010 2009
(Unaudited)
Loan interest payment subsidy received $ 7 $ 25

The loan interest payment subsidy was offset against interest expense.

(d) In 2008, Primaris engaged a broker to source a new mortgage. This broker conducted a fulsome
marketed process, which resulted in the most competitive bid from OMERS Administration
Corporation.

In August 2008, Primaris borrowed $110,000 from OMERS Administration Corporation, an entity that is
related to both the then external asset and property manager of Primaris. The new mortgage bears
interest at 5.49% and matures in July 2013.

During the three months ended March 31, 2009, Primaris expensed interest of $1,480 on this
mortgage. The balance outstanding as at December 31, 2009 was $107,134.
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19. Related party transactions (cont'd)

(e)

In 2009, Primaris entered into a lease for office space with an entity related to the then asset and
property manager of Primaris. The lease commenced on December 1, 2009 for a period of 10 years.
The estimated average annual rental payment under the lease is $1,275.

These transactions were in the normal course of operations and were measured at the exchange amount,
which was the amount of consideration established and agreed to by the related parties.

20.
(a)

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:

Under the terms of a memorandum of agreement dated June 7, 1971 between The City of Calgary
and Oxford Properties Group Inc. (“OPGI”) as assumed, assigned and amended from time to time,
including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, by a development amending agreement
between The City of Calgary, Marathon Realty Company Limited and The Cadillac Fairview
Corporation Limited, OPGI is obligated to pay for certain roadway construction near Northland
Village and such roadway construction obligation remains registered on title for this property.
These obligations were assumed by an affiliate of OPGI, who has provided Primaris with a limited
indemnification in respect of this obligation.

Primaris has certain income—producing properties situated on leased land. Minimum lease payments
are as follows:

2010 remainder $ 881
2011 1,248
2012 1,375
2013 1,400
2014 1,400
Thereafter 42,525

$ 48,829

Primaris entered into operating leases for office space with lease payments as follows:

2010 remainder $ 1,077
2011 1,436
2012 1,436
2013 1,469
2014 1,440
Thereafter 6,631

$ 13,489

Under the terms of one of the ground leases that expire in 2056, Primaris may be required to restore
the site to the state at the commencement of the ground lease. Primaris has recorded a potential
discounted liability of $227 (December 31, 2009 — $229) for these potential restoration costs.

Primaris has issued letters of credit in the amount of $1,822 (December 31, 2009 — $1,822).

Primaris is involved in litigation and claims in relation to the income—producing properties that arise
from time to time in the normal course of business. In the opinion of management, any liability that

may arise from such contingencies would not have a significant adverse effect on the consolidated
financial statements.
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